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       1                        P R O C E E D I N G S

       2                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Welcome back,

       3       everyone.  I hope you all had an enjoyable lunch.  I

       4       know I did.  We are on -- we finished with Witness

       5       Avery, so we are on to the third witness for CHELCO.

       6                 MR. HORTON:  That is correct, Mr. Chairman.

       7       And Ms. Smith -- Ms. Smith.  Ms. Sullivan has been

       8       stipulated, so I would, at this time, move her Prefiled

       9       Direct Testimony into the record.

      10                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let it so be moved, that her

      11       Prefiled Direct Testimony is entered into the record.

      12                 MR. HORTON:  And she had four exhibits that

      13       have been identified as Exhibits 14 through 17.  I would

      14       move those exhibits at this time.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We will move those into the

      16       record, as well.

      17                 (Exhibit Number 14 through 17 admitted into

      18       the record.)

      19                 MR. HORTON:  Ms. Sullivan also had

      20       Supplemental Direct Testimony, which I would move into

      21       the record at this time.

      22                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's move that into the

      23       record.

      24                 MR. HORTON:  And an exhibit was attached to

      25       that, which has been identified as Exhibit 18.  I would
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       1       move that at this time.

       2                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  So we are moving 14 through

       3       18 into the record.  Okay.

       4                 (Exhibit Number 18 admitted into the record.)

       5                 MR. HORTON:  And I would jump ahead.  The next

       6       witness is Doctor Blake, and Doctor Blake has been

       7       stipulated, and I would ask that his Prefiled Direct

       8       Testimony be inserted into the record as though read.

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Well, let's move his

      10       Prefiled Direct Testimony into the record as though

      11       read.

      12                 MR. HORTON:  And he had an exhibit attached to

      13       his, which has been premarked as Exhibit 19, which I

      14       would move at this time.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's move 19 into the

      16       record, as well.

      17                 (Exhibit Number 19 admitted into the record.)

      18                 MR. HORTON:  And that would conclude CHELCO's

      19       witnesses.

      20                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Staff, anything before we go

      21       on to Gulf?

      22                 MR. JAEGER:  I was wanting to make sure that

      23       there were no corrections to, you know, any of

      24       Sullivan's testimony or Blake's testimony.

      25                 MR. HORTON:  There may be one to Doctor
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       1       Blake's.

       2                 MR. JAEGER:  Doc, on Page 12, I believe, was a

       3       mistaken reference to 366.04(3)(b), when it should be

       4       (2)(e), is that correct, Line 15?

       5                 MR. HORTON:  That would be correct.

       6                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  One more time.

       7                 MR. JAEGER:  Page 12, Line 15, and the section

       8       number should be 366.04(2)(e) instead of (3)(b).

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Is that the only

      10       correction that we know of?

      11                 MR. HORTON:  That's the only correction I'm

      12       aware of; yes, sir.

      13                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Let the record show

      14       we will move that into the record as corrected.

      15                 Staff, is there anything else?

      16                 MR. JAEGER:  No, Chairman Graham.
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       1                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Gulf, you're up.

       2                 MR. BADDERS:  Good afternoon.  Our first

       3       couple of witness are stipulated witnesses, so let me go

       4       ahead and get those moved into the record.

       5                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Sure.

       6                 MR. BADDERS:  Witness Jacob's Prefiled

       7       Testimony consisting of six pages, we ask that that be

       8       moved into the record as though read.

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  We will move that in as

      10       though read.

      11                 MR. BADDERS:  He did not have any exhibits.

      12       Witness Johnson, we also ask that his Prefiled Direct

      13       Testimony be moved into the record as though read.

      14                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's move Witness Johnson

      15       into the record as though read.

      16                 MR. BADDERS:  And we also move for the

      17       admission of an exhibit that has already been identified

      18       as Exhibit 27 to his testimony.

      19                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's also put Exhibit 27,

      20       Hearing ID Number 27.

      21                 (Exhibit Number 27 admitted into the record.)
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       1                 MR. BADDERS:  And that moves us to Witness

       2       Feazell.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.

       4                 MR. GRIFFIN:  I call Mr. Feazell to the stand.

       5                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Welcome, Mr. Feazell.

       6                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

       7                       WILLIAM MICHAEL FEAZELL

       8       was called as a witness on behalf of Gulf Power Company,

       9       and having been duly sworn, testified as follows:

      10                          DIRECT EXAMINATION

      11       BY MR. GRIFFIN:

      12            Q.   Mr. Feazell, were you previously sworn in the

      13       hearing room this morning?

      14            A.   Yes, I was.

      15            Q.   Please state your name and business address

      16       for the record.

      17            A.   My name is William Michael Feazell.  My

      18       address is 140 Hollywood Boulevard, Fort Walton Beach,

      19       Florida 32548.

      20            Q.   And by whom are you employed and in what

      21       capacity?

      22            A.   Gulf Power Company as the District Operations

      23       Manager for the Fort Walton Beach district.

      24            Q.   And you are the same Mike Feazell who prefiled

      25       Direct Testimony on March 3rd, 2011, consisting of 14
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       1       pages?

       2            A.   Yes, sir.

       3            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to that

       4       testimony?

       5            A.   Yes, sir.  I'll go through that.  The changes

       6       I have would be on Page 3, Lines 11 through 12.  It

       7       would be to strike April 2008 and insert June 19th,

       8       2006.  The second change would be on Page 5, Line 15,

       9       strike "Or construct an entirely new substation."  And

      10       these changes came about as a result of the changes of

      11       the Direct Testimony from Witness Avery.

      12                 The last one on Page 9 would be Lines 13

      13       through 19.  I'd like to strike both the question and

      14       the answer.

      15            Q.   With the exception of those changes, if I were

      16       to ask you the same questions today, would your answers

      17       be the same?

      18            A.   Yes.

      19                 MR. GRIFFIN:  Mr. Chair, we would ask that Mr.

      20       Feazell's Prefiled Direct Testimony and accompanying

      21       changes be inserted into the record as though read?

      22                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  I have to apologize.  Let's

      23       go back to that change on Page 5.  I missed that one.

      24                 THE WITNESS:  On Page 5, Line 15, strike, "Or

      25       construct an entirely new substation."
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       1                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.

       2                 MR. GRIFFIN:  Will Mr. Feazell's testimony be

       3       inserted into the record as though read?

       4                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's enter his testimony

       5       into the record as though read.

       6                 MR. GRIFFIN:  Thank you, sir.

       7       BY MR. GRIFFIN:

       8            Q.   Mr. Feazell, did you also have four exhibits

       9       attached to your direct testimony labeled as WMF-1

      10       through WMF-4?

      11            A.   Yes, I do.

      12                 MR. GRIFFIN:  And, Mr. Chair, I would note

      13       that those exhibits are identified as Hearing Exhibits

      14       28, 29, 30, and 31.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.

      16       BY MR. GRIFFIN:

      17            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to any

      18       of those exhibits?

      19            A.   No, sir, I don't.

      20            Q.   Did you also submit Prefiled Rebuttal

      21       Testimony on April 27th, 2011, consisting of nine pages?

      22            A.   That is correct.

      23            Q.   And do you have any changes or corrections to

      24       that testimony?

      25            A.   No, I don't.
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       1            Q.   If I were to ask you the same questions, your

       2       answers would be the same today, correct?

       3            A.   That's correct.

       4                 MR. GRIFFIN:  Mr. Chair, we have ask that Mr.

       5       Feazell's Prefiled Rebuttal Testimony be inserted into

       6       the record as though read.

       7                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's enter his rebuttal

       8       testimony into the record as though read.

       9       BY MR. GRIFFIN:

      10            Q.   And, Mr. Feazell, did you have one exhibit to

      11       your rebuttal testimony listed as WMF-5?

      12            A.   That is correct.

      13                 MR. GRIFFIN:  And, Mr. Chair, I would note

      14       that that exhibit is identified as Hearing Exhibit 32.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.
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       1       BY MR. GRIFFIN:

       2            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to that

       3       exhibit?

       4            A.   No, I don't.

       5            Q.   With that, Mr. Feazell, please summarize your

       6       testimony.

       7            A.   Good afternoon, Commissioners.  My name is

       8       Mike Feazell, and I am Gulf Power's District Operations

       9       Manager for the Fort Walton Beach district.  My job is

      10       to safely provide reliable electric service to our

      11       customers in the Fort Walton Beach, Destin, Crestview,

      12       along with the DeFuniak areas.  In my testimony, I will

      13       explain why Gulf Power is capable of providing safe,

      14       reliable electric service to the Freedom Walk

      15       Development.  I will also explain why Gulf Power is able

      16       to provide that service at a cost below that of CHELCO.

      17                 In order to safely and reliably serve the

      18       Freedom Walk Development, Gulf Power will extend its

      19       three-phase line 2,130 feet along Old Bethel Road

      20       without crossing any CHELCO primary distribution

      21       facilities at a cost of $89,738.  In contrast, in order

      22       to safely and reliably serve the development, CHELCO

      23       will be required to upgrade a 1.3-mile segment of its

      24       394 AAAC conductor along Highway 85.  The cost for this

      25       upgrade alone totals $227,404.  In addition to the
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       1       conductor upgrade, CHELCO would also be required to

       2       perform significant upgrades at its Auburn substation,

       3       and to install new voltage regulators and capacitors.  I

       4       have estimated these costs to be at least $114,000.

       5                 It is clear from Witness Sullivan's own

       6       engineering studies that the additional load associated

       7       with the Freedom Walk Development will cause this

       8       1.3-mile conductor segment to not only exceed CHELCO's

       9       own system design and operational criteria, but to

      10       exceed 100 percent of the conductor's maximum rated

      11       capacity.

      12                 CHELCO argues that the costs associated with

      13       the conductor upgrade should not be considered as part

      14       of CHELCO's cost to serve the development because the

      15       upgrade would be performed by CHELCO in 2014, even if

      16       CHELCO is not awarded the right to serve Freedom Walk.

      17       However, based on my review of CHELCO's load projections

      18       for that area, I believe it highly improbable that

      19       CHELCO would have a legitimate need to proceed with the

      20       conductor upgrade in 2014 if they did not serve the

      21       development.

      22                 Witness Avery and Grantham have taken the

      23       position that CHELCO can serve the full load associated

      24       with Freedom Walk without making any upgrades to the

      25       Auburn substation.  This position ignores the testimony
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       1       of CHELCO Witness Sullivan, and is simply not prudent

       2       from an engineering or system planning perspective.  The

       3       load projected for Freedom Walk will cause the Auburn

       4       substation loadside bank breaker and breaker by-pass

       5       switches to be operated at 97 percent of their maximum

       6       capacity, and the Auburn Circuit 3 recloser to be

       7       operated at 93 percent of its maximum capacity.  And

       8       that is just the probable loading, and without any

       9       consideration for weather extremes.

      10                 Ms. Sullivan recognized this problem and

      11       recommended two options that CHELCO could use to reduce

      12       the loading on these substation components.  One option

      13       was to upgrade the loadside bus work and circuit

      14       recloser for Auburn Circuit 3.  The second option was to

      15       build approximately 1.5 miles of new line from the

      16       Auburn substation and transfer that load to the new

      17       line.  Each of these options comes with significant

      18       costs.

      19                 Mr. Avery has ignored these recommendations

      20       and suggested that CHELCO could simply monitor the

      21       situation.  Based on my experience, this is not a

      22       realistic solution.  Operating these substation

      23       components so close to their maximum ratings leaves an

      24       inadequate safety margin in the event that weather or

      25       other conditions result in increased load on the system.
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       1                 Finally, my testimony addresses CHELCO's

       2       contention that it will be using a loop-fed system to

       3       serve the Freedom Walk Development.  I explain why

       4       CHELCO's system is not truly loop-fed as the term is

       5       typically understood in the industry.  While a portion

       6       of the feeder is loop, the entire feeder is not.  There

       7       are approximately two miles of this feeder that are

       8       radial.  Consequently, CHELCO's suggestions that this

       9       system is capable of providing more reliable service to

      10       the development are overstated at best.

      11                 Thank you.

      12                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you, sir.

      13                 MR. GRIFFIN:  We tender Mr. Feazell for

      14       cross-examination.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you.  FECA.

      16                 MR. WILLINGHAM:  We have no questions.

      17                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Thank you.  CHELCO.

      18                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      19       BY MR. EARLY:

      20            Q.   Good afternoon, Mr. Feazell.  Good to see you

      21       again.

      22            A.   Good afternoon, sir.

      23            Q.   Mr. Feazell, do you have your testimony and

      24       your deposition with you today?

      25            A.   Yes, sir, I do.
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       1            Q.   Okay.  Deposition transcript, I suppose.  Let

       2       me start -- let me talk a little bit with you about

       3       conductors and electrical equipment in general.  Is it

       4       correct to say that the rated capacity of a conductor is

       5       the amount of current that can be carried by that

       6       conductor?

       7            A.   Yes, sir.

       8            Q.   Okay.  And the rated capacity is a specific

       9       number, correct?

      10            A.   That's correct.

      11            Q.   Okay.  If conductors are installed in a manner

      12       that they don't experience limitations caused by lines

      13       sagging, or terrain issues, or things like that, can a

      14       conductor safely be operated at 100 percent of its rated

      15       capacity?

      16            A.   Yes, sir.

      17            Q.   And can a conductor likewise be safely

      18       operated at 100 percent of its operating capacity?

      19            A.   I believe it would be, yes.

      20            Q.   Would your testimony as to electrical

      21       conductors apply to other electrical equipment that

      22       carries a load rating?  That is, can electrical

      23       equipment that carries a load rating be safely operated

      24       at 100 percent of its rated capacity?

      25            A.   In some instances, yes.  I would have to know
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       1       the specifics of what you're talking about.

       2            Q.   As a general matter, I mean, is that an

       3       accurate statement that a piece of equipment, if

       4       operated and installed correctly, can be operated at

       5       100 percent of its rated capacity?

       6            A.   Yes, sir.

       7            Q.   And, in fact, doesn't a load rating provide an

       8       engineer or someone in your position with the

       9       information as to how much current can be carried by

      10       that particular piece of equipment?

      11            A.   Yes, sir.

      12            Q.   And since you have a specific number

      13       attributed to a piece of equipment, doesn't that give

      14       people who are in charge of planning the information

      15       that they might use to be able to start the upgrade

      16       process?

      17            A.   Could you please restate that?

      18            Q.   Yes.  Since you have a specific number as to a

      19       piece of electrical equipment, does that give people who

      20       are in charge of planning the information to know when

      21       they might want to start upgrading that equipment?

      22            A.   It could, yes.

      23            Q.   Okay.  Now, let's discuss other types of

      24       electrical equipment.  Would you agree that an

      25       electrical switch can be operated safely at 100 percent
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       1       of its rated capacity?

       2            A.   Yes, I would agree that a switch could be

       3       operated at 100 percent of its rated capacity and not

       4       above that.

       5            Q.   Would you agree that a breaker can be operated

       6       safely at 100 percent of its rated capacity?

       7            A.   I would agree, yes.

       8            Q.   Would you agree that a bus can be operated

       9       safely at 100 percent of their rated capacity?

      10            A.   I would agree, yes.

      11            Q.   Okay.  Now, Mr. Feazell, you have reviewed,

      12       and I believe it is an exhibit to your testimony, you

      13       have reviewed the CHELCO 2011 through 2014 construction

      14       work plan, have you not?

      15            A.   Yes.

      16            Q.   Does that construction work plan contemplate

      17       the replacement of a 394 AAAC conductor segment with a

      18       741 AAAC conductor segment on the CHELCO Auburn

      19       substation feeder?

      20            A.   Could you point me to where you are referring

      21       to that?

      22            Q.   Well, is that your recollection of what CHELCO

      23       is going be doing as part of their construction work

      24       plan or not, or do you recall?

      25            A.   I recall, but could you point me to where we
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       1       are talking about?

       2                 MR. EARLY:  Just one second, please.  I

       3       apologize for the delay.

       4                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Take your time.

       5       BY MR. EARLY:

       6            Q.   Mr. Feazell, if I could direct you to your

       7       Exhibit WMF-4 to your Direct Testimony, Page 21 of 44.

       8            A.   Okay.

       9            Q.   So to repeat my question, does the

      10       construction work plan contemplate the replacement of a

      11       394 AAAC conductor segment with a 741 AAAC conductor

      12       segment on the CHELCO Auburn substation feeder?

      13            A.   Yes, sir.

      14            Q.   Okay.  And after that replacement is complete,

      15       will the CHELCO distribution system be capable of

      16       handling the full 4700 kW load projected for Freedom

      17       Walk?

      18            A.   After the 394 conductor, this specific one on

      19       here, not the other one, correct?

      20            Q.   Correct, after that 394 AAAC conductor segment

      21       is replaced with a 741 AAAC conductor segment as

      22       depicted in the construction work plan, after that is

      23       complete, will the CHELCO distribution system be capable

      24       of handling the full 4700 kW load projected for Freedom

      25       Walk?
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       1            A.   Yes, sir.

       2            Q.   If that replacement is completed on

       3       December 31, 2014, would CHELCO be able to handle the

       4       full 4700 kW load on that date, on December 31, 2014?

       5            A.   I don't know about that specific thing.

       6            Q.   I'm asking you to assume that that is the date

       7       that the 741 replacement is complete.  And on that date,

       8       after completion of the 741 AAAC conductor segment,

       9       would CHELCO's distribution system be capable of

      10       handling the Freedom Walk load?

      11            A.   Yes, sir, it would.

      12            Q.   Okay.  Now, based on your review of the

      13       construction work plan, as you were preparing, as you

      14       indicated you did in preparation of your testimony, were

      15       you able to determine whether that upgrade was being

      16       planned by CHELCO prior to the addition of any Freedom

      17       Walk load?

      18            A.   Please restate that.

      19            Q.   Yes.  Based on your review of the construction

      20       work plan, were you able to determine whether that

      21       upgrade was being planned by CHELCO prior to the

      22       addition of any Freedom Walk load?

      23            A.   It was listed in the 2011 through 2014

      24       construction work plan.

      25            Q.   Were you able to determine whether or not the
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       1       2011 through 2014 construction work plan included a

       2       specific provision for the Freedom Walk load?

       3            A.   I'm not aware of any Freedom Walk load

       4       included in that plan.

       5            Q.   Okay.  Now, let me ask you, we have talked a

       6       bit -- I want to move to substation issues, and we have

       7       talked a good bit about MVA ratings, the rating in the

       8       MVA.  Does MVA have a corresponding relationship to --

       9       we have seen with Freedom Walk 4700 kW is the projected

      10       load.  Is 4700 kV, would that be the equivalent of 4.7

      11       MVA?

      12            A.   Not necessarily.  Please restate that question

      13       one more time.

      14            Q.   Does MVA, does the rating in MVAs correspond

      15       to a rate, to kilowatts, to kW?

      16            A.   If you are factoring in the bank rating, you

      17       have to take into account both the kW load and the VAr

      18       flow or VAr load that is associated with that.

      19            Q.   Do you recall having your deposition taken on

      20       April 20th, 2011?

      21            A.   Yes, sir, I do.

      22            Q.   Do you have your deposition with you?

      23            A.   Yes, sir.

      24            Q.   Could you turn to Page 86, at Lines 11 through

      25       13?
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       1            A.   On 86, Lines 11 through 13?

       2            Q.   Yes.  And I asked you would a 10.5 MVA as

       3       referenced here be the equivalent of 10,500 kW in terms

       4       of its carrying capacity, and you responded I believe it

       5       would.  Is that a correct statement today?

       6            A.   Are we referring specifically to the 10 MVA

       7       transformer that exists today?

       8            Q.   I was referring to a 10 MVA as referenced

       9       here, and we were talking about a transformer at the

      10       Airport Road substation.  But, in general, would a 10.5

      11       MVA transformer be able to have the carrying capacity of

      12       10,500 kW?

      13            A.   That is correct, on the nameplate rating.

      14            Q.   Okay.  Now, in your testimony, and I

      15       understand that you have withdrawn this piece of your

      16       testimony, but I'm going to ask you a question that

      17       doesn't necessarily relate to that specifically.  But

      18       you indicated that -- well, do you recall earlier in

      19       this proceeding there was a discussion that CHELCO might

      20       have to do a substation upgrade in order to handle the

      21       load when the understanding was that the transformer at

      22       the Auburn Road was 20 MVA, do you recall that?

      23            A.   Yes, sir.

      24            Q.   And at that time it was Gulf's understanding

      25       that there would have to be an upgrade of the actual
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       1       transformer at the Auburn substation, is that accurate?

       2            A.   That is correct.

       3            Q.   Okay.  And at that time, it was your testimony

       4       that if CHELCO had to do that at the Auburn Road

       5       substation that it was going to cost somewhere between

       6       700,000 and $1.2 million, do you recall that testimony?

       7            A.   Could you point me in the direction where that

       8       is?

       9            Q.   Well, it's Page 9, Lines 13 through 19, which

      10       have been withdrawn, but do you recall --

      11            A.   Is that in my direct?

      12            Q.   Yes.  I'm sorry, yes, it's Page 9 of your

      13       direct, at Lines 13 through 19.

      14            A.   Okay.

      15            Q.   Do you recall making that statement?

      16            A.   Yes.

      17            Q.   And you were able to conclude at that time

      18       that based on -- quote, "Based on my knowledge of

      19       transmission construction, the cost of a transformer

      20       replacement ranges from 700,000 to 1.2 million."  That

      21       was your understanding at that time of what it would

      22       cost CHELCO to do that replacement, correct?

      23            A.   That is correct.

      24            Q.   Okay.  Now, based on the information available

      25       today, do you believe any transformer replacement is
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       1       necessary for CHELCO?

       2            A.   Based on today's information?

       3            Q.   Correct.

       4            A.   No, I don't feel like the transformer needs to

       5       be replaced.

       6            Q.   Okay.  Now, let me hand you Exhibit Number 24,

       7       which is Exhibit CSC-5, which is Gulf Power responses to

       8       CHELCO's second set of interrogatories.  If I could

       9       direct you to Interrogatory Number 39, is it your

      10       understanding that Gulf has proposed replacing the

      11       existing 10.5 MVA transformer at its Airport Road

      12       substation with a bank of three transformers to meet the

      13       Freedom Walk load?

      14            A.   Excuse me while I read this.

      15            Q.   Yes.  It's Interrogatory Response 39.

      16            A.   Okay.  Please restate your question, sir.

      17            Q.   Yes.  Is it your understanding, based on

      18       Interrogatory Number 39, that absent a larger upgrade

      19       that we will discuss later, Gulf would need to replace

      20       three single-phase substation transformers at the

      21       Airport Road substation in order to handle Freedom Walk,

      22       the load associated with Freedom Walk?

      23            A.   It says here that Gulf would need to replace

      24       three single-phase substation transformers at the

      25       Airport Road sub at a cost of approximately $40,000.
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       1            Q.   Okay.  In order to serve the estimated --

       2            A.   To serve the estimated 4.7 load associated

       3       with Freedom Walk.

       4            Q.   Okay.  And let me hand you -- this is response

       5       to staff Interrogatory Number 1, which is Exhibit 60,

       6       and I'd ask you to take a look at the answer to Question

       7       1A.  And that question is using your existing facilities

       8       as of January 1, 2010, provide information and all

       9       associated costs in relation to providing service to an

      10       assumed 4.7 megawatt of total load for Freedom Walk

      11       development reaching build-out in December 2014.  Were

      12       you responsible for the preparation --

      13            A.   Please restate the original.  I was waiting on

      14       the document.

      15            Q.   Well, were you responsible for the preparation

      16       of that interrogatory response?

      17            A.   Yes, sir.

      18            Q.   Okay.  And in response to staff's Question

      19       Number 1A, is it the position of Gulf today that it will

      20       have to provide a replacement transformer or series of

      21       transformers at 12.5 MVA in order to serve Freedom Walk?

      22            A.   Restate that again.

      23            Q.   Is it Gulf's position today that it will have

      24       to provide a replacement transformer or series of

      25       transformers at the Airport Road substation with a total
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       1       capacity of 12.5 MVA in order to meet the 4,700 kW load

       2       of Freedom Walk by December 31st, 2014?

       3            A.   In order for Gulf to serve the Freedom Walk

       4       load, we would upgrade the 10.5 MVA bank to a 12.5 MVA

       5       bank that has got a 100 percent loading factor that's

       6       associated with it, which would give us 15 MVA on that

       7       transformer bank.  Conversely, the 10.5 MVA bank will

       8       handle 12.6 MVA.  We load the transformer to

       9       120 percent, so at that point in time, yes.

      10            Q.   And you have attributed, or Gulf has

      11       attributed a cost of $40,000 to that, to the replacement

      12       of that transformer?

      13            A.   That's correct.

      14            Q.   Okay.  Now, you have indicated in your

      15       testimony that you have a knowledge of transmission

      16       construction that was sufficient to allow you to

      17       conclude that a transformer replacement by CHELCO would

      18       have cost between 700,000 and 1.2 million, we discussed

      19       that earlier?

      20            A.   Yes, sir.

      21            Q.   Does your knowledge of transmission

      22       construction as you have testified, does that -- given

      23       that knowledge, what would a fair replacement cost be

      24       for a 12.5 MVA transformer?

      25            A.   The cost that's stated here, the $40,000 cost
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       1       is a fully depreciated transformer that we are talking

       2       about.  The depreciation on a transformer is roughly in

       3       the neighborhood of 38 years depreciation -- or, excuse

       4       me, the transformer age that we used when we looked at

       5       this was a 45-year-old transformer.  So we are talking

       6       about the labor cost associated with a fully depreciated

       7       transformer.

       8            Q.   Okay.  But that wasn't my question.  My

       9       question is what is the fair replacement cost of a

      10       12.5 -- if I were to go today and pull out my checkbook

      11       and go to the transformer store and ask them for a 12.5

      12       MVA transformer, what might I be expected to pay?

      13            A.   I didn't do any research into what a 12.5 MVA

      14       would cost.

      15            Q.   So your knowledge of transmission construction

      16       doesn't given you sufficient information to come to any

      17       conclusion as to what that might cost?

      18            A.   I have never been involved in the upgrade of a

      19       12.5 as far as what you are referring to as a new

      20       transformer.

      21            Q.   Okay.  You assumed when you were looking at

      22       CHELCO that CHELCO was going to be buying a new

      23       transformer?

      24            A.   We took a new transformer and that is what

      25       that price was, was a new transformer; yes, sir.
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       1            Q.   Okay.  Do you have any sense as you sit here

       2       today, based on your experience as you have indicated,

       3       what an approximate cost or what a fair market cost

       4       might be for a 12.5 MVA transformer?

       5            A.   No, I don't.

       6            Q.   No?

       7            A.   No, I don't.

       8            Q.   How about if I were to go buy a used one, you

       9       know, a retail transformer.  Do you have any idea what

      10       that would cost?

      11            A.   No, I don't.

      12            Q.   Would you assume it would be more than zero?

      13            A.   I would assume it to be more than zero; yes,

      14       sir.

      15            Q.   Okay.  Now, as part of Interrogatory Response

      16       39, you discuss an upgrade of the Airport Road

      17       substation as part of a larger plan to convert Gulf's 46

      18       kV system in the area to a 115 kV system.  Do you recall

      19       that?

      20            A.   Yes, sir.

      21            Q.   And in response to Interrogatory 41, you have

      22       given some costs on the second page, on Page 2 of 2, the

      23       costs that Gulf has estimated to convert the Airport

      24       Road substation to 115 kV with new relaying and new

      25       11A/12 kV transformer, and new high-side protection
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       1       would be 1.5 million, is that correct?

       2            A.   I don't have that document in front of me.

       3            Q.   You do, it is the --

       4            A.   It's in the same document, 41?

       5            Q.   Yes, it is 41.

       6            A.   Okay.  Thank you.  All right.

       7            Q.   Okay.  So the cost of the project that I just

       8       described to you Gulf estimated at 1.5 million, correct?

       9            A.   That is correct.

      10            Q.   Okay.  And then to serve the Airport Road

      11       substation on the existing Crestview Airport 115 kV line

      12       would be another $100,000?

      13            A.   That's what it says.

      14            Q.   Okay.  Now, these upgrades to the system,

      15       those are upgrades that Gulf was planning to perform

      16       independent of Freedom Walk, were they not?

      17            A.   That is exactly right.

      18            Q.   Okay.  And because of that, Gulf has not

      19       attributed any of those costs to serving Freedom Walk,

      20       is that correct?

      21            A.   That is correct.

      22            Q.   But the load that is made available by those

      23       upgrades will be used to serve Freedom Walk if Gulf is

      24       awarded that territory, would they not?

      25            A.   Airport Sub will serve the Freedom Walk
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       1       substation, or Freedom Walk development if Gulf is

       2       awarded the right to serve.

       3            Q.   Okay.  So that is yes?

       4            A.   That's yes.

       5            Q.   Okay.  Now, if 4700 kW load of Freedom Walk --

       6       well, let me ask you, you were here for Mr. Avery's

       7       testimony, were you not?

       8            A.   Yes, sir.

       9            Q.   And did you hear Mr. Griffin as he was

      10       questioning Mr. Avery, I believe he asked Mr. Avery

      11       several questions about what would happen if the 4700 kV

      12       load came on tomorrow.  Were you here for those

      13       questions?

      14            A.   Yes, sir.

      15            Q.   Okay.  Now, if the 4700 kW load of Freedom

      16       Walk came on tomorrow, would the Airport Road substation

      17       be able to handle that load today?

      18            A.   Yes.

      19            Q.   Do you recall having your deposition taken on

      20       April 20th, 2011?

      21            A.   Yes, sir.

      22            Q.   If I could have you turn to Page 63, and I

      23       asked you at Pages 8 through 11 -- I'm sorry, Lines 8

      24       through 11, I asked you if a 4700 kW load came on

      25       tomorrow in its current configuration and capacity, the
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       1       Airport Road substation would not be able to handle that

       2       load today.  And your response was that is correct.

       3       Have you changed your answer?

       4            A.   No, sir.

       5            Q.   Okay.  How do those two statements --

       6            A.   The answer is that with the $40,000

       7       transformer change-out, we can serve that.

       8            Q.   Okay.  But without that -- as Airport Road

       9       sits today, at this moment, it would not be able to

      10       handle the full 4700 kW build-out of Freedom Walk?

      11            A.   That's correct.

      12            Q.   Okay.  Now, you discuss at some length in your

      13       testimony, I believe, and in the response to the

      14       interrogatories that we have been discussing, the

      15       upgrade of the Airport Road along with a number of other

      16       substations to the 115 kW system, do you recall?

      17            A.   Yes, sir.

      18            Q.   Okay.  If I could have you, again, take a look

      19       at -- I'm sorry, yes, Item Number 41 in CHELCO's second

      20       set of interrogatories, which you have.  And on the

      21       second page it discusses convert the Airport Road

      22       substation to 115 kV with new relaying and new 115/12 kV

      23       transformer and high-side protection, and then hooking

      24       it up as we have discussed.

      25                 Can I get a plan -- can I get a copy of the
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       1       plan that incorporates that work?

       2            A.   We have developed a plan, as I have stated in

       3       my rebuttal, that what we planned on doing was upgrading

       4       the substations as you see in this document right here.

       5            Q.   Okay.

       6            A.   And we've got a timeline that is associated

       7       with what we are going to do here.

       8            Q.   Okay.

       9            A.   And with or without the load of Freedom Walk.

      10            Q.   Okay.  And can I get a copy of that plan?

      11            A.   You have a copy of it here, sir.

      12            Q.   This is it?

      13            A.   That's what we have discussed in the planning

      14       criteria that we have gone through in developing how we

      15       are going to implement the 46 kV conversion project.

      16            Q.   Okay.  In terms of the conversion of the

      17       Airport Road substation, if I were to ask for the

      18       planning document that would be involved in the

      19       construction of that improvement, I wouldn't be able to

      20       get it because it doesn't exist, is that correct?

      21            A.   There isn't a physical document that says that

      22       we are going to take the high side, the work that is

      23       associated in specifics at the Airport sub; no, sir.

      24            Q.   Okay.  So the answer to my question then is

      25       yes, there is not a document that exists, is that
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       1       correct?

       2            A.   Not at this time there isn't; no, sir.

       3            Q.   Okay.  What is the construction timeline for

       4       that substation upgrade?

       5            A.   Specifically, which one?

       6            Q.   The upgrade of the Airport Road substation to

       7       115 kV with new relaying, et cetera, as set forth on

       8       Page 2 of Interrogatory Response 41.  What's the

       9       timeline for that?

      10            A.   The timeline for the project itself, the

      11       entire project, is between 2011 and 2015.

      12            Q.   Okay.  Do you recall our discussion -- well,

      13       with particular attention to the Airport Road substation

      14       portion of this, this plan, this is the plan, these two

      15       pages, that is what I have, right?

      16            A.   That is an overview of what we plan on doing,

      17       that is correct.

      18            Q.   Okay.  With regard just to the Airport Road

      19       substation element of that plan, what is the

      20       construction timeline for that substation upgrade?

      21            A.   It would be in the neighborhood of somewhere

      22       between 2011 and 2015, an end date of 2015 is what we

      23       have discussed.

      24            Q.   Do you recall -- if I could have you take a

      25       look at your deposition at Page 79, Lines 17 through 21,
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       1       in which I asked you, okay, and today you can't tell me

       2       what the timeline would be for that work, can you?

       3                 And your answer was specifically within the

       4       next three to five years is the plan that we have to do

       5       this work that you are looking at.  So is that not an

       6       accurate statement today?

       7            A.   Can I make sure I'm on the right page again.

       8            Q.   Page 79.

       9            A.   79, Lines 19.

      10            Q.   Lines 17 through 21.

      11            A.   Okay.  Ask your question, please.  I'm sorry.

      12            Q.   At that time you indicated that the timeline

      13       that you had was somewhere between three and five years,

      14       is that no longer accurate?  Have you moved that up?

      15            A.   We have not moved it up.  It's just that the

      16       timeframe between three and five years is what we had

      17       planned on doing, with the expectation that the Airport

      18       sub or the final leg of this, which is actually the

      19       retirement of the South Crestview to Baker line, and all

      20       of that would be within that three to five year time

      21       frame.  But you had asked specifically about when we

      22       were talking about doing the Airport Road substation

      23       conversion.  There are other elements to this that have

      24       to be done along with that.

      25            Q.   Okay.  But as far as the Airport Road
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       1       substation conversion element, that would be three to

       2       five years?

       3            A.   No, sir.  That would be within time frame that

       4       we are talking about, between 2011 and 2015.

       5            Q.   Okay.  Are there land associated issues

       6       involved, right-of-way, title issues, land records,

       7       survey issues, those types of things that could slow the

       8       operation down?

       9            A.   No, sir.  The actual second part of this where

      10       it states in there to convert the Milligan substation to

      11       a 115 line and build a half-mile tap, that is in the

      12       design stages at this point, and there are no

      13       right-of-way issues associated with that.

      14            Q.   Okay.  How about title or land use?

      15            A.   No, sir.

      16            Q.   Okay.  So has any of the work that you have

      17       discussed with regard to the upgrade of the Airport Road

      18       substation been budgeted?

      19            A.   The Airport Road sub specifically, I'm sorry?

      20            Q.   Yes.

      21            A.   The Airport Road substation has not been

      22       budgeted, but will be budgeted in the 2011 budget year,

      23       which will be this year.

      24            Q.   Okay.  Now, let me ask you, Mr. Feazell, are

      25       you familiar -- I believe on Page 2 of your rebuttal you
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       1       speak to the outparcels that are involved in the area in

       2       dispute.  Do you recall that statement?

       3            A.   Can you point me to where you are talking

       4       about?

       5            Q.   I'm sorry, Mr. Feazell, I thought it was on

       6       Page 2, but I may be incorrect.  Actually, I'm sorry,

       7       it's on Page 2 of your rebuttal testimony.  I apologize

       8       for that.

       9            A.   I'm there.

      10            Q.   And you discuss the outparcels for the

      11       property?

      12            A.   I'm sorry?

      13            Q.   In that testimony, you discuss, I believe,

      14       certain outparcels that Gulf believes are not within the

      15       area in dispute in this case.

      16            A.   The exact wording is, "However, these

      17       outparcels were included within the development.  It is

      18       misleading to suggest the removal of CHELCO's facilities

      19       would be necessitated if Gulf Power prevails in this

      20       dispute."  In fact, the outparcels were included -- "If

      21       the outparcels were included in the development, the

      22       facilities would be removed, even if CHELCO is awarded

      23       the right to serve the development."

      24            Q.   Okay.  Let me have you take a look at one of

      25       the exhibits in this case, and see if I understand what
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       1       Gulf's position is with regard to the outparcels.  Let

       2       me put up a depiction of the property that was included

       3       as Exhibit B to the CHELCO petition for territorial

       4       dispute.  And, Mr. Feazell, we have heard Mr. Griffin

       5       discuss the bold black lines several times.  Is it the

       6       areas that are south of Old Bethel Road, but within the

       7       parameters of those bold black lines that Gulf believes

       8       to be the outparcels?

       9            A.   Do you mind pointing to them?

      10            Q.   Sure.  This area and this area.

      11            A.   That's correct.

      12            Q.   And it's Gulf's position that those areas,

      13       those outparcels are not properly within the scope of

      14       this territorial dispute, is that correct?

      15            A.   They are not within the scope of what we have

      16       defined as the territorial dispute, that is correct.

      17            Q.   Okay.  Let me have you take a look at a

      18       document -- have you take a look at a document that

      19       was -- it shows as Hearing ID Number 25, and this is a

      20       document -- I'll set it up there in just a second.  This

      21       is a document that is prepared by Moore Bass Consulting

      22       bearing a date of April 9, 2008, that was produced as a

      23       Response to POD Number 14.

      24                 And do you recall ever having seen that

      25       document?
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       1            A.   Yes, sir, I have seen it.

       2            Q.   Okay.  And that document -- who is Moore Bass

       3       Consulting?

       4            A.   They are the engineering firm that was

       5       associated with Freedom Walk and the developer.

       6            Q.   And that document from 2008, that shows

       7       Freedom Walk lots and streets in the area that would be

       8       encompassed by the outparcels as you have previously

       9       described them, do they not?

      10            A.   Well, it doesn't show the streets in those

      11       outparcels.  It shows an outline of it with dashed

      12       areas, which differs in what they show in the main body

      13       of the subdivision.  But it does depict them, yes.

      14            Q.   Okay.  Let me ask you to have a look -- I'm

      15       going to place for your review the document that was

      16       produced as Response to POD 15, this document bearing a

      17       date of June 15th, 2010, prepared by Gulf Power.  Do you

      18       recognize that, have you seen that document before?

      19            A.   Yes, sir.

      20            Q.   Would that be a document that depicts proposed

      21       service connections that are going to be made in the

      22       Freedom Walk development?

      23            A.   Proposed service connections?

      24            Q.   Yes.

      25            A.   It depicts our layout of what we used for

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                       294

       1       depicting what size cable and facilities might be

       2       necessary on that particular plat as the plat did change

       3       or has changed.  So on that particular plat, that is

       4       what that was in place for is to look at conductor sizes

       5       and layouts.

       6            Q.   Okay.  And on that exhibit, which was prepared

       7       by Gulf, was it not?

       8            A.   That is correct.

       9            Q.   Okay.  And on that exhibit, Gulf is showing

      10       connections and conductors and all of those things on

      11       lots within the area that you have described as the

      12       outparcels, does it not?

      13            A.   It depicts that as part of what we were

      14       looking at to determine cable size for that particular

      15       plat, yes.  Again, there has been other plats associated

      16       with this, as well.

      17            Q.   So at least according to those two diagrams,

      18       POD 14 and POD 15 -- and these documents were produced

      19       by Gulf Power in response to a POD, were they not?

      20            A.   Yes, that is correct.

      21            Q.   Okay.  So at least according to these two

      22       diagrams, it would appear that both the developer and

      23       Gulf have plans that would include lots and electrical

      24       equipment being placed in the area that Gulf has argued

      25       are outparcels?
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       1            A.   Well, there is another plat that exists that

       2       was --

       3            Q.   I understand.  I'm just asking with regard to

       4       these two documents.

       5            A.   On these two particular ones?  Restate your

       6       question, please.

       7            Q.   As to POD 14, which is the Moore Bass

       8       document, and POD 15, which is the Gulf document, that

       9       document was prepared less than a year ago, correct?

      10            A.   To the best of my knowledge, yes.

      11            Q.   Okay.  Both of those documents show lots being

      12       created and electrical service being provided in the

      13       area that Gulf argues is not within the scope of this

      14       territorial dispute, is that correct?

      15            A.   The Moore Bass document that you showed me the

      16       first time does not show anything as far as design.

      17       This one right here does show what we had proposed to

      18       determine the size of the cable and equipment necessary

      19       in those areas that you have defined as not being part

      20       of the dispute, the outparcels.

      21            Q.   Okay.  Now, one last question.  Going back to

      22       the document that was included as Exhibit B to the

      23       CHELCO petition, there are a number of -- and I'm going

      24       to get up and point them out -- but a number of

      25       residential developments and homes on both the north and
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       1       west -- north side of Old Bethel Road and along Normandy

       2       Road, and let me show you where I'm talking about.

       3       These homes here (indicating).  In this development it

       4       doesn't look like there are many homes in it, but there

       5       are streets.  These homes here, and these homes along

       6       Normandy Road.  Do you see where I am?

       7            A.   Yes, sir.

       8            Q.   Who serves those homes?

       9            A.   To the best of my knowledge, CHELCO currently

      10       serves those homes.

      11            Q.   Okay.  All right.  Mr. Feazell, going back to

      12       the Moore Bass document dated 4/9/2008, and, again, this

      13       was POD 14, according -- that document has a dotted line

      14       going all the way around the perimeter of the area

      15       shown.  Do you see that?  And follows along the entire

      16       perimeter of Old Bethel Road.

      17            A.   I'm not seeing what you are trying to describe

      18       to me.

      19            Q.   Do you see the dotted line along -- let's get

      20       the most obvious.  Along the south and east boundary

      21       there is a dotted line that has a long line and then two

      22       short lines, and then a long line and two short lines?

      23            A.   Perhaps you could point that out to me to make

      24       sure we are talking about the same thing.

      25            Q.   A long line, two short lines; a long line, two
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       1       short lines; a long line and two short lines.  Do you

       2       see the line that I am referring to?

       3                 Does that long line and two short lines go all

       4       the way around the perimeter of the area being depicted

       5       on that Moore Bass document?

       6            A.   Does it go all the way around the perimeter?

       7            Q.   Does it follow along the entirety of the

       8       northern boundary of Old Bethel Road?

       9            A.   One line does, but the other one cuts off the

      10       outparcel.

      11            Q.   Okay.  Other than the outparcel, though, that

      12       long line and two short lines goes all the way along Old

      13       Bethel Road, does it not?

      14            A.   Yes.  Again, it goes around Old Bethel, but it

      15       cuts off those lots that we were talking about earlier,

      16       as well.

      17            Q.   Let me just ask you very plainly.  Isn't it

      18       accurate that that long line and two short line piece

      19       goes all the way around, it follows that curve and goes

      20       all the way around to Normandy Road?

      21            A.   That is correct, but it is also correct that

      22       you have one that goes across the bottom half that cuts

      23       off those same outparcel lots that we are talking about.

      24            Q.   Okay.  And under the key that is provided with

      25       that document, that long line and two short lines is
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       1       defined as the property boundary, is it not?

       2            A.   I'm sorry, I can't read that as well as you

       3       can.

       4            Q.   There is a legend, property boundary.

       5            A.   It says property something, as best I can

       6       tell.  It is quite blurred, I apologize.

       7            Q.   Okay.  Thank you.

       8                 Mr. Feazell, I appreciate your time.

       9            A.   Thank you.

      10                 MR. EARLY:  I have no further questions.

      11                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  All right.  Staff.

      12                          CROSS EXAMINATION

      13       BY MR. JAEGER:

      14            Q.   Going to that Exhibit 14, I was looking at the

      15       legend, and I can't tell the difference between property

      16       boundary and proposed lot lines.  They are both a long

      17       line, two short lines, and a long line.  Or is one of

      18       them more bold and one lighter; is that what it is?  In

      19       the legend of what we were just looking at, POD 14, it

      20       has property boundaries --

      21                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Hold on a second.  Let him

      22       get the illustration back in front of him.

      23                 THE WITNESS:  I'm sorry, I don't have that,

      24       sir.  Can I borrow your map again?  (Pause.)

      25                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Ask the question, again, if
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       1       you would.

       2                 MR. JAEGER:  Okay.

       3       BY MR. JAEGER:

       4            Q.   In the legend, at the top it says property

       5       boundary, and it's a long line, two short lines, and a

       6       long line.  And then three more down, again, it is one

       7       long line, two short lines, and a long line that doesn't

       8       look to be quite as bold.  Is that the difference

       9       between property boundary and proposed lot lines?

      10            A.   I'm assuming there is, but that could be the

      11       printing that may have taken place with the paper.  I'm

      12       assuming they are trying to delineate the difference

      13       between property lines and property boundary.  To answer

      14       your question, I'm having a tough time distinguishing

      15       between the two on this particular document.

      16            Q.   Yes, I agree, the legend is pretty bad.  Thank

      17       you.

      18                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Is that all from staff?

      19                 MR. JAEGER:  That's all.

      20                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commission board?

      21                 Redirect?

      22                 MR. GRIFFIN:  We do have some redirect, Mr.

      23       Chair.

      24                         REDIRECT EXAMINATION

      25
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       1       BY MR. GRIFFIN:

       2            Q.   Mr. Feazell, Mr. Early was asking you about

       3       Gulf's planning process for the Airport Road conversion

       4       project.  When did Gulf Power first meet to discuss that

       5       Airport Road conversion project?

       6            A.   We actually met in February of 2008.  We had a

       7       meeting that was conducted to talk about not only the

       8       Airport Road substation, but the South Crestview, East

       9       Crestview, and we also discussed the Baker and Milligan

      10       substations that are all involved in the 46 kV

      11       conversion project.

      12            Q.   And when did Gulf Power or when did you first

      13       meet with the developer in this case to discuss Freedom

      14       Walk?

      15            A.   I met with the developer in April of 2008.

      16            Q.   There was some discussion of whether the

      17       upgrade to the 394 AAAC segment of the conductor to a

      18       741 AAAC segment would enable CHELCO's distribution

      19       system to handle the full load of Freedom Walk.  Do you

      20       remember that?

      21            A.   That's correct.

      22            Q.   Would CHELCO also need to add voltage

      23       regulators and capacitors to enable that line to handle

      24       the full load associated with Freedom Walk?

      25            A.   Based on the discussions and the testimony,
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       1       yes, they would have to add voltage regulators and cap

       2       banks.

       3            Q.   Mr. Early talked with you about the early

       4       replacement of the 10.5 MVA transformer with a larger

       5       transformer at a cost of $40,000.  Do you recall that?

       6            A.   Yes, sir.

       7            Q.   Would Gulf have to buy a replacement

       8       transformer to enable that replacement?

       9            A.   No, we would not.  That's labor cost

      10       associated with the movement of a transformer or

      11       transformers.

      12            Q.   Is that a transformer that Gulf Power or

      13       Southern Company already has in inventory, so to speak?

      14            A.   That is correct.  It's a fully depreciated

      15       transformer that we have available.

      16            Q.   Would Gulf Power have to proceed with the

      17       $40,000 replacement project if the Airport Road

      18       conversion project was completed before Freedom Walk

      19       fully develops?

      20            A.   No.  Based on the project that we have, the

      21       conversion project of the 46 kV system, we would not

      22       have to change out any transformer at Airport sub.  Once

      23       that project is completed, the 28 MVA that would go in

      24       at Airport Sub is a standard 28 115/12 kV transformer, a

      25       Southern Company standard transformer that is fully
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       1       capable of handling any load that is associated with

       2       Airport sub.

       3            Q.   Mr. Early asked you if any component of the

       4       Airport Road conversion project has been included in

       5       Gulf Power's budgeting process.  Have elements of the

       6       North Okaloosa County conversion project been included

       7       in Gulf Power's present budgeting in the distribution

       8       elements?

       9            A.   Yes.  In 2011, as of September is the start

      10       date, we will start the elimination of a Baker

      11       substation, which is 46 kV sub.  We will eliminate that

      12       substation by doing distribution work that is associated

      13       with tying the two together.  That work will be

      14       completed by the end of 2011.  That is in the 2011

      15       budget forecast.

      16            Q.   Mr. Early asked you about the outparcels and

      17       in doing that he went over some maps with you.  Those

      18       were POD 14 and 15.  Please turn to Exhibit 1 to your

      19       deposition, please, sir.

      20            A.   Is that the Moore Bass map?

      21            Q.   Yes.  I was going to ask you what that

      22       document is?

      23            A.   It's the Moore Bass phasing -- or, excuse me,

      24       it is a Moore Bass plat that we received, and that's

      25       what Witness Johnson provided us with when I gave my
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       1       testimony as far as the number of lots that were

       2       associated with the Freedom Walk development, and it

       3       included the phasing of this subdivision.

       4            Q.   Okay.  And what does it say right up there

       5       when we have been talking about the outparcels?

       6                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Hold on just a second.

       7                 Are we good?  Please continue.

       8       BY MR. GRIFFIN:

       9            Q.   Mr. Feazell, what does it say right up in the

      10       area where we have been talking about the outparcels?

      11            A.   It says outparcel.

      12                 MR. GRIFFIN:  That's all I have.  Thank you.

      13                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Exhibits.

      14                 MR. EARLY:  Excuse me.  Mr. Chairman, and I

      15       know the Commission typically doesn't allow recross, but

      16       since that dealt with an entirely different exhibit,

      17       could I ask a question with regard solely to the map

      18       that Mr. Feazell just offered testimony about?

      19                 MR. GRIFFIN:  Mr. Chair, he specifically

      20       precluded Mr. Feazell from referring to this document

      21       during his cross-examination, and so I would object to

      22       any further recross on this.

      23                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Was the document just to

      24       clarify a question that he had asked earlier?

      25                 MR. GRIFFIN:  That is correct; yes, sir.
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       1                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  I'll overrule the objection.

       2                         RECROSS EXAMINATION

       3       BY MR. EARLY:

       4            Q.   Mr. Feazell, the document that you just

       5       identified on the bottom says Freedom Walk Community

       6       Development District.  Do you see that?

       7            A.   Yes, sir.

       8            Q.   Do you know what a community development

       9       district is?

      10            A.   I'm not familiar enough with a community

      11       development district to comment, no, sir.

      12            Q.   To the extent that a 0community development

      13       district might be different than a subdivision, might

      14       this map -- would it appear that this map depicts a

      15       particular development district?  Would you draw that

      16       conclusion from that?

      17            A.   Again, I don't know what a community

      18       development district is, so it doesn't indicate to me

      19       anything other than a plat.

      20                 MR. EARLY:  Okay.  Thank you.

      21                 Thank you.

      22                 MR. GRIFFIN:  We would move Exhibits 28, 29,

      23       30, 31, and 32 into the record, Mr. Chair.

      24                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let the record show we are

      25       going to enter 28, 29, 30, 31, and 32 into the record.
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       1                 (Exhibit Number 28 through 32 admitted into

       2       the record.)

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  And does this conclude this

       4       witness?

       5                 MR. GRIFFIN:  Yes, sir.

       6                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Thank you.

       7                 THE WITNESS:  Thank you.

       8                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's go ahead and take a

       9       five-minute recess before we take up the last witness.

      10                 (Recess.)

      11                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  We are to Gulf's last

      12       witness.

      13                 MR. BADDERS:  Actually, I have two.  We have

      14       one extra in the middle that we have to move into the

      15       record.  So at this time I will move the Prefiled Direct

      16       Testimony of R. K. Harper into the record as though

      17       read.

      18                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's move the testimony of

      19       Mr. Harper as though read.

      20                 MR. BADDERS:  Mr. Harper also has one exhibit.

      21       It has been previously identified as Hearing Exhibit 33.

      22       I would move that into the record also.

      23                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's so move Hearing ID

      24       Number 33 into the record.

      25                 (Exhibit Number 33 admitted into the record.)
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       1                 MR. BADDERS:  Thank you.

       2                 And now we are to Gulf's last witness.  Mr.

       3       Spangenberg has taken the stand.

       4                 Mr. Spangenberg, were you previously sworn?

       5                 THE WITNESS:  Yes, I was.

       6                     THEODORE S. SPANGENBERG, JR.

       7       was called as a witness on behalf of Gulf Power Company,

       8       and having been duly sworn, testified as follows:

       9                         DIRECT EXAMINATION

      10       BY MR. BADDERS:

      11            Q.   Please state your name and your business

      12       address for the record.

      13            A.   I am Theodore S. Spangenberg, Jr.  My business

      14       address is 500 Bayfront Parkway, Pensacola, Florida.

      15            Q.   Thank you.  And by whom are you employed and

      16       in what capacity?

      17            A.   I am employed by Gulf Power Company as the

      18       Director of Military Affairs and Special Projects.

      19            Q.   Are you the same Theodore S. Spangenberg, Jr.

      20       who prefiled Direct Testimony on March 3rd, 2011,

      21       consisting of 29 pages?

      22            A.   Yes, I am.

      23            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to that

      24       testimony?

      25            A.   I have two changes to that testimony.  They
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       1       are very minor.  The first would be on Page 13 of that

       2       Direct Testimony, Line 15; the word statues should be

       3       statutes.

       4                 And then on Page 25, I will need to change

       5       that as a result of CHELCO's change in their direct

       6       testimony.  Page 25, the sentence that begins on Line 7

       7       should end after the word required on Line 8, and the

       8       rest of that sentence should be struck.

       9                 And those are the only corrections to my

      10       testimony.

      11            Q.   Thank you.

      12                 With those corrections, if I were to ask you

      13       the same questions today, would your answers be the

      14       same?

      15            A.   Yes, they would.

      16                 MR. BADDERS:  Mr. Chair, we ask that Mr.

      17       Spangenberg's Prefiled Direct Testimony be moved into

      18       the record.

      19                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's enter Mr.

      20       Spangenberg's Prefiled Testimony into the record as

      21       though read.

      22       BY MR. BADDERS:

      23            Q.   Mr. Spangenberg, did you also have one exhibit

      24       attached to your direct testimony identified as TSS-1?

      25            A.   Yes, I did.  I believe it contains several

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                       318

       1       schedules.

       2            Q.   I would note that that has been previously

       3       identified as Hearing Exhibit 34.

       4                 Do you have any changes or corrections to that

       5       exhibit?

       6            A.   No, I do not.

       7            Q.   Mr. Spangenberg, did you also submit Prefiled

       8       Rebuttal Testimony on April 27th, 2011, consisting of 25

       9       pages?

      10            A.   Yes, I did.

      11            Q.   Do you have any changes or corrections to that

      12       testimony?

      13            A.   No, I do not.

      14            Q.   If I were to ask you the same questions today,

      15       would your answers be the same?

      16            A.   Yes, they would.

      17                 MR. BADDERS:  Mr. Chair, we would move that

      18       Mr. Spangenberg's prefiled rebuttal testimony be moved

      19       into the record as though read.

      20                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let's move Mr. Spangenberg's

      21       prefiled rebuttal testimony, did you say?

      22                 MR. BADDERS:  Yes.

      23                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  -- into the record as though

      24       read.

      25                 MR. BADDERS:  Thank you.
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       1       BY MR. BADDERS:

       2            Q.   Mr. Spangenberg, did you also have three

       3       exhibits attached to your prefiled testimony labeled

       4       TSS-2, TSS-3, and TSS-4?

       5            A.   Yes, I did.

       6            Q.   Do you have any changes to any of those

       7       exhibits?

       8            A.   No, I do not.

       9                 MR. BADDERS:  Thank you.  I will note that

      10       those have also been given Hearing Exhibit Numbers of

      11       35, 36, and 37.

      12                 At this time we would tender him to give his

      13       summary.

      14

      15

      16

      17

      18

      19

      20

      21

      22

      23

      24

      25
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       1                 THE WITNESS:  Good afternoon, Commissioners.

       2       My name is Ted Spangenberg, Jr., and I am the Director

       3       of Military Affairs and Special Projects for Gulf Power

       4       Company, and one of those special projects is

       5       territorial affairs.  I have a long history of dealing

       6       with territorial matters in Florida, most of it focusing

       7       on avoiding the type of dispute which brings us here

       8       today.

       9                 My testimony steps through the various

      10       elements to be considered as outlined in statutes and

      11       Commission rules in resolving a dispute.  The first of

      12       these involves identifying the area in dispute and its

      13       nature.  CHELCO has clearly identified for us in its

      14       petition what area or customer it is disputing, and it

      15       is the Freedom Walk development as developed, not pine

      16       trees, pasture, and palmettos which need no service.

      17                 Freedom Walk would be a nonrural urban

      18       development based on its population density, the types

      19       of urban amenities it would incorporate, and any of the

      20       definitions for urban found in Florida law.  It will be

      21       located within the corporate limits of the City of

      22       Crestview, and it will be within easy walking distance

      23       of a variety of other urban areas and amenities already

      24       existing in Crestview, as is readily obvious from the

      25       composite aerial photo that I have provided.  And that
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       1       photo is on the easel here and up on the screen.

       2                 Consideration of the nature of the area is

       3       important because of its link to the next consideration,

       4       which is the type of utilities seeking to serve.  Gulf

       5       Power is a public utility with a statutory obligation to

       6       provide the service that has been requested.  As a

       7       public utility, there are no limitations on the types of

       8       areas in which Gulf Power can provide service.  It is

       9       permitted to serve Freedom Walk.

      10                 CHELCO is a rural electric cooperative, and

      11       hence is not permitted to serve new prospective

      12       customers in nonrural areas.  The Commission has a long

      13       history of assessing whether a disputed area is rural or

      14       not in determining if a cooperative is legally permitted

      15       to serve new customers in that area.  CHELCO should not

      16       be permitted to serve, as Freedom Walk is not rural.

      17                 Florida law allows a cooperative to continue

      18       serving its customers in areas that lose their rural

      19       nature as long as the number of persons served in such

      20       areas does not exceed a 10 percent limit.  CHELCO is

      21       already in excess of this limitation as demonstrated by

      22       my direct testimony and the data provided in Schedule

      23       6 of the exhibit to that testimony.

      24                 Another element for consideration in resolving

      25       disputes is the general physical ability of each utility
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       1       to provide adequate and reliable service.  Both Gulf

       2       Power and CHELCO are stable, well-run, and physically

       3       capable utilities and should be able to provide good

       4       service.

       5                 Other elements for consideration in resolving

       6       disputes are the facilities and their cost that each

       7       utility would have to install to provide service to the

       8       disputed area and within the disputed area.  Service

       9       within Freedom Walk will require an extensive array of

      10       facilities by either utility, and those facilities and

      11       their cost will be substantially equal for either

      12       utility.

      13                 Both utilities currently have primary voltage

      14       distribution facilities abutting Freedom Walk.  CHELCO's

      15       is on the northern border of Freedom Walk and Gulf's is

      16       on the southeastern border.  However, the existing

      17       facilities of either utility are not currently capable

      18       of providing adequate and reliable service to Freedom

      19       Walk.  Either utility will have to add to or modify its

      20       facilities in order to provide adequate and reliable

      21       service.

      22                 Rather than upgrade its distribution line at

      23       the southeastern border, Gulf Power has elected to plan

      24       to extend a three-phase feeder a short distance down Old

      25       Bethel Road.  CHELCO would use its existing circuit

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                       377

       1       further down Old Bethel Road, but will need to make

       2       otherwise unnecessary extensive upgrades along that

       3       circuit all the way back to and including its Auburn

       4       substation.

       5                 Mr. Feazell discusses these more fully in his

       6       testimony.  However, my rebuttal testimony clearly

       7       demonstrates that CHELCO's plan for facility upgrades to

       8       serve Freedom Walk has serious shortcomings,

       9       particularly with respect to substation components.

      10       CHELCO's plans are based on probable load conditions

      11       rather than the extreme load conditions as specifically

      12       referenced in its own system design and operational

      13       criteria.  CHELCO's plan would operate several

      14       substation components in excess of their operational

      15       ratings during extreme loading.  This is a recipe for

      16       disaster with a major risk of substation damage and

      17       extensive, unacceptable, and avoidable outages.  The

      18       cost for making the necessary and prudent upgrades to

      19       the Auburn substation should, without question, be

      20       included in CHELCO's cost of providing adequate and

      21       reliable service to Freedom Walk.

      22                 Additionally, my rebuttal testimony describes

      23       why CHELCO, with Gulf Power serving Freedom Walk, will

      24       not have any need to upgrade a 1.3-mile segment of the

      25       conductor it would use to serve the development.  This

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                       378

       1       $227,000 project is only needed if CHELCO serves Freedom

       2       Walk; hence, that cost should also be included in

       3       CHELCO's cost to provide service to the development.

       4                 In resolving territorial disputes, the

       5       Commission should consider the cost of providing service

       6       to the disputed area in determining if any uneconomic

       7       duplication would occur, should each utility provide

       8       service, assuming there is more than one utility that is

       9       permitted under law or Commission policy to provide

      10       service.  My testimony provides an analysis with respect

      11       to four tests to be used to determine uneconomic

      12       duplication.  These four tests are based on prior

      13       Commission and Florida Supreme Court conclusions with

      14       respect to such a determination.  Gulf Power serving

      15       Freedom Walk will not result in any uneconomic

      16       duplication of existing facilities.

      17                 The final recommended element for

      18       consideration in resolving a territorial dispute is

      19       customer preference, and it is to be applied when all

      20       other factors are substantially equal.  The only factors

      21       that are substantially equal in this case are the

      22       general physical capability of each utility and the

      23       facilities needed within the Freedom Walk development.

      24       All the other factors clearly favor Gulf Power Company.

      25       Yet with respect to customer preference, the developer
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       1       is the only logical proxy for the ultimate customers

       2       that will reside in Freedom Walk.  The developer has

       3       every reason to keep the best interest of the ultimate

       4       customers in mind, as that is how he will be most

       5       successful in selling the lots and achieving his

       6       ultimate goals for the development.  The developer

       7       clearly prefers service from Gulf Power rather than

       8       CHELCO.

       9                 As indicated in my rebuttal testimony, CHELCO

      10       offers up additional factors it would have the

      11       Commission consider in resolving this dispute.  However,

      12       none of these have any basis for consideration in law,

      13       Commission rules, or basic business logic, and some have

      14       been specifically rejected for consideration in prior

      15       Commission rulings in resolving territorial disputes.

      16                 In conclusion, Gulf Power serves the abundance

      17       of customers in the Crestview area.  If you might look

      18       to the chart, to the east of Freedom Walk, to the south

      19       of Freedom Walk, and over off to the left here on the

      20       west of Freedom Walk, and service to Freedom Walk itself

      21       should also be awarded to Gulf Power Company.

      22                 Thank you.

      23                 MR. BADDERS:  We tender the witness for

      24       cross-examination.

      25                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  FECA.
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       1                 MR. WILLINGHAM:  I will be consistent.  No

       2       questions.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  All right.  CHELCO.

       4                 MR. HORTON:  And I will be consistent and have

       5       a few.

       6                          CROSS EXAMINATION

       7       BY MR. HORTON:

       8            Q.   Hello, Mr. Spangenberg.  How are you?

       9            A.   Fine, Mr. Horton.  And you?

      10            Q.   Great.  Thank you.

      11                 Do you have a copy of your deposition

      12       transcript?

      13            A.   Yes, sir, I do.

      14            Q.   Would you turn to Page 30, please.

      15            A.   Page 30.  I'm there.

      16            Q.   Okay.  And on that page, we started off, or I

      17       had a question to you about the obligation to serve

      18       there on Lines 6 through 8.  Do you see that?

      19            A.   Yes, sir, I do.

      20            Q.   And we continued on, on Line 10, I asked you

      21       what do you understand that to mean; and your answer

      22       was, "What that means is that as a public utility, we

      23       hold ourselves out to the public in providing service.

      24       And for the vast majority of our customers we have no

      25       effective competition.  For instance, where we presently
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       1       are, if someone wanted to build a building next door to

       2       the building we are here in right now, we are for

       3       practical purposes the only utility they can choose.

       4       Therefore, we represent a monopoly.  The Public Service

       5       Commission represents the -- you know, a replacement for

       6       competition in that market."  Did I read that correctly?

       7            A.   Yes, sir, you did.

       8            Q.   In your Direct Testimony, you address -- you

       9       address the fact that CHELCO is in excess of 10 percent,

      10       serving in excess of 10 percent of their members in

      11       nonrural areas.  Do you recall that?  It was several

      12       places in your Direct Testimony.

      13            A.   Yes, sir, I do.

      14            Q.   And I previously handed you or provided you a

      15       copy of 425-03 and 425-04, and those are the -- and I

      16       believe the Commissioners also have a copy -- those two

      17       sections are the sections that you have generally

      18       referred to in your Direct Testimony.  The definition of

      19       rural area there is the definition that you have been

      20       using, is it not?

      21            A.   Yes, sir, it is.

      22            Q.   Okay.  Let me ask you to look at Page 17 of

      23       your Direct Testimony.  Actually, your Schedule 6, let's

      24       look at that first.  You list there -- you address the

      25       number of persons served by CHELCO.  You talk about Blue
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       1       Water Bay, Crestview, DeFuniak Springs, and Freeport.

       2       Now, with respect to those last three, those are

       3       municipalities, Crestview, DeFuniak Springs, and

       4       Freeport?

       5            A.   Those three would include municipalities and

       6       incorporated areas of municipalities.  It might also

       7       include urban areas or nonrural areas kind of attached

       8       to the actual municipal city limits.

       9            Q.   Okay.  But Crestview, DeFuniak Springs, and

      10       Freeport are municipalities, are they not?

      11            A.   Yes, sir, they are.

      12            Q.   All right.  And in your testimony on Page 17,

      13       you say that Crestview has a population greater than

      14       21,000.  I believe that's on Line 9.  You say in excess

      15       of 21,000?

      16            A.   Yes, sir.

      17            Q.   And that would not be a rural area under the

      18       425-03 definitions, correct?

      19            A.   That is correct, it would not.

      20            Q.   And I believe -- well, it's not on that same

      21       page.  DeFuniak Springs on Page 19, and that's -- back

      22       up.  The number -- the in excess of 21,000 is strictly

      23       within the city limits of Crestview, is it not?

      24            A.   Yes, that is correct.

      25            Q.   Okay.  And on Page 19, the population solely

                          FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

                                                                       383

       1       within the city limits of DeFuniak Springs is 5,061,

       2       correct?

       3            A.   Yes, sir, that is correct.

       4            Q.   And that would be in excess -- that would not

       5       be a rural area under the definition we have talked

       6       about?

       7            A.   That is correct, as stated on Line 21.

       8            Q.   Now, what's missing is the population of

       9       Freeport.  What is the population of Freeport within the

      10       city limits?

      11            A.   I have estimated that the population of

      12       Freeport, using the estimate of 1,151 accounts being

      13       inside the city limits, as being in excess of -- well, I

      14       used the population as a basis of the 2,256 members of

      15       being at least 4,500 people.  I have made no estimate

      16       for those that are just within the city limits.

      17            Q.   I didn't ask what your estimate was.  You

      18       refer there to your -- to the greater Freeport in your

      19       method of calculation.  But for Crestview and DeFuniak

      20       Springs, you have stated the population within the city

      21       limits, and I'm asking you what is the population within

      22       the city limits of Freeport?

      23            A.   I don't believe I have that information here

      24       with me, Mr. Horton.

      25            Q.   Did you ever look at anything that listed the
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       1       population for Freeport?

       2            A.   I believe I actually recall calling the town

       3       clerk of the city of Freeport and their best estimate

       4       was around 2,000, maybe a little more than 2,000.  I

       5       found that to be consistent with the number of accounts

       6       that I list here inside the city limits provided by

       7       CHELCO of 1,151.  In my personal opinion, based on

       8       looking at demographics and those types of estimates, I

       9       believe that population just within the city limits to

      10       be somewhere between 2,000 and 2,500 persons.

      11            Q.   That would be a rural area under 425.03, would

      12       it not?

      13            A.   No, sir, it would not, because that would only

      14       include those just inside the municipal limits.  It

      15       would not include those in the greater Freeport area,

      16       which clearly are part and parcel of the Freeport

      17       community.

      18            Q.   Okay.  We are going to get to the greater area

      19       argument in a second.  I'm wanting to know the

      20       population strictly within the city limits of Freeport.

      21            A.   And I think I just answered that.

      22            Q.   Okay.  Mr. Spangenberg, if you would look at

      23       that page, or that document I just handed you.  What

      24       does that say the total population of the City of

      25       Freeport was in 2010?
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       1            A.   If I am reading this correctly, again, without

       2       worrying with the disclaimers about non-sampling errors

       3       and those types of things, it lists the total

       4       population -- it says here the City of Freeport as 1,787

       5       persons.

       6            Q.   And can you tell from looking at that document

       7       the source of that document?

       8            A.   What is printed on here is being labeled as

       9       being from the U.S. Census Bureau.

      10            Q.   All right.  And that would also be reflected

      11       in the -- here I go with the technology, the URL across

      12       the bottom?

      13            A.   Yes, sir.  Seeing that it comes from the

      14       factfindertocensus.gov website, I would have to concur

      15       with that conclusion.

      16            Q.   Okay.  So this appears to be data provided by

      17       the U.S. Census Bureau, does it not?

      18            A.   Yes, sir, it does.

      19            Q.   All right.  And 1,787 is significantly below

      20       the number 2,500 found in the definition of rural area

      21       in 425.03, is it not?

      22            A.   I would agree that 1,787 is below 2,500.  I

      23       would disagree that that fits the exact definition,

      24       because you have failed to include the unincorporated

      25       provisions of Chapter 425.
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       1            Q.   But just by itself we would be able to --

       2       CHELCO -- okay, all right.

       3                 Is there another utility that provides service

       4       to Freeport?

       5            A.   Other than who?

       6            Q.   Other than CHELCO?

       7            A.   Not that I'm aware.  Not electric utility.

       8            Q.   Electric utilities.  Gulf doesn't provide

       9       service there?

      10            A.   No, sir, we do not.

      11            Q.   Does Gulf provide service in the greater area

      12       of definition that you use?

      13            A.   No, sir, it does not.

      14            Q.   Do you know the closest service to Freeport

      15       from Gulf, provided by Gulf?

      16            A.   It would be a toss-up to whether it's

      17       Niceville, which is kind of just across the bayou from

      18       Blue Water Bay, or whether it would be down in South

      19       Walton down towards, you know, towards West Hewitt Road

      20       area.  The new Wal-Mart going in there, that might be

      21       the closest one.

      22            Q.   What's that in distance in mileage, roughly?

      23            A.   Oh, a rough estimate, I would guess we're in

      24       the neighborhood of ten miles.  It could be 15, it could

      25       be 25.  Between 8, 15, somewhere around that range.
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       1       It's that order of magnitude.

       2            Q.   Do you know of any other electric utility that

       3       would be anywhere near the City of Freeport that could

       4       provide electric service other than CHELCO?

       5            A.   That could provide?  Yes, sir, there are other

       6       that might could provide.  None that could readily

       7       provide, based on existing facilities today.

       8            Q.   Okay.  Now, under your interpretation and

       9       under your testimony, CHELCO cannot serve nonrural

      10       areas, and you have persisted in insisting that Freeport

      11       is a nonrural area, so who's going to serve the people

      12       of Freeport, if it's not CHELCO?

      13            A.   Sir, if I might, I believe you may have

      14       mischaracterized my testimony.  What I said is it cannot

      15       serve prospective new customers.  In particular, we are

      16       here in a territorial dispute with respect to Freedom

      17       Walk, a large group of prospective new customers, they

      18       cannot serve those in nonrural areas.

      19            Q.   Then let's apply that to the City of Freeport.

      20       If there is -- I don't know, if somebody decides to

      21       build a Freedom Walk in the City of Freeport, your

      22       testimony would be that CHELCO could not serve them

      23       because we are in excess of the 10 percent limit right

      24       now, is that not correct?

      25            A.   Yes, sir.  Particularly if it came up in the
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       1       context of a territorial dispute, I believe that leaves

       2       CHELCO in a legal conundrum because of basically a

       3       failure to kind of keep up with the law over the years

       4       as facilities have expanded and customers have been

       5       added.  And I'm not proposing as part of this

       6       territorial dispute that we figure out how to resolve

       7       that conundrum.  We are simply trying to apply the

       8       provisions of Chapter 425 to the Freedom Walk

       9       development there in the City of Crestview.

      10            Q.   Well, none of the cities that you have

      11       referred to, other than the city, none of the cities are

      12       anywhere near the area that is in dispute, are they?

      13            A.   I'm sorry?

      14            Q.   DeFuniak Springs is how far from Crestview?

      15            A.   Oh, I'm sorry.  No, none are very close to

      16       Crestview, but certainly Crestview is part and parcel of

      17       the dispute.

      18            Q.   Blue Water Bay is nowhere near Crestview or

      19       Freedom Walk, is it?

      20            A.   It depends on your definition of nowhere near.

      21       It's in the same county, but it's over ten miles away, I

      22       believe.

      23                 MR. HORTON:  One moment.

      24                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Sure.

      25                 (Pause.)
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       1                 MR. HORTON:  I don't believe I have any more

       2       questions.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Staff.

       4                 MR. JAEGER:  Staff has no questions.

       5                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Commission board?

       6                 Redirect?

       7                 MR. BADDERS:  No redirect.

       8                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Do we have exhibits?

       9                 MR. BADDERS:  Yes, we do.  At this time I will

      10       move Exhibits 34, 35, 36, and 37 into the record.

      11                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Let the record show we are

      12       moving Exhibits 34, 35, 36, and 37 into the record.

      13                 (Exhibit Number 34 through 37 admitted into

      14       the record.)

      15                 MR. BADDERS:  I believe that's the end of

      16       Gulf's part of the case.

      17                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Staff, have we moved

      18       all the exhibits into the record from what I can tell?

      19                 MR. JAEGER:  Let me check.  I think we have,

      20       Chairman.

      21                 MS. HELTON:  By my check we have, Mr.

      22       Chairman.

      23                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.

      24                 MR. JAEGER:  Yes, by mine, also.

      25                 MR. HORTON:  Mr. Chairman, I don't know if you
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       1       want to mark the Census Bureau report that we just

       2       referred to or not.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Actually, that's probably a

       4       fair idea.  If we can mark that and enter that into the

       5       record, unless there is some dispute about that.

       6                 MR. HORTON:  Then we would identify it --

       7                 MR. BADDERS:  I'm sorry, Commissioner, no, we

       8       have no objection.

       9                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  So that would be Hearing ID

      10       Number 63, and the description will be 2010 Census for

      11       Freeport City.

      12                 MR. HORTON:  Thank you.

      13                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  And we will move that into

      14       the record, 63.

      15                 (Exhibit Number 63 marked for identification

      16       and admitted into the record.)

      17                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  All right.  Staff, can you

      18       provide us with dates for post-hearing decisions?

      19                 MR. JAEGER:  Yes, Chairman.  The transcripts

      20       are due May 26th.  I don't see any need to move it up a

      21       day, since we are finishing a day early.  I think we can

      22       just leave that May 26th, and give our court reporters a

      23       break.  And that would make the briefs due on June 9th.

      24       The staff recommendation is scheduled to be filed on

      25       July 14th for the July 26th, 2011, Commission
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       1       Conference.  And that would make the final order due out

       2       August 15th, 2011.

       3                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Is everybody okay with those

       4       dates?

       5                 MR. BADDERS:  Gulf is.

       6                 MR. HORTON:  Yes, sir.

       7                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Okay.  Do we have anything

       8       else to come before us, while we are all here together?

       9                 Staff?

      10                 MR. JAEGER:  Nothing from staff, Chairman.

      11                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  Gulf?

      12                 MR. BADDERS:  Nothing from Gulf.

      13                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  CHELCO?

      14                 MR. EARLY:  Nothing.

      15                 CHAIRMAN GRAHAM:  All right.  That all being

      16       the case, I believe that we are adjourned.  Thank you

      17       very much for coming.

      18                 (The hearing concluded at 3:18 p.m.)
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